A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Public Hospital District No. 1 of King County ("District") asks this 

Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating 

review designated in Part B of this petition. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The District seeks review of the published Court of Appeals 

decision filed on June 23, 2014. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix 

at pages A-1 through A-19. 

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

Can the elected officials of a municipal corporation delegate their 
core responsibilities for the operation of that corporation, such as the 
power to set a budget, to levy taxes and incur debt, or to select the 
corporation's chief executive officers, to a group of largely unelected 
substitute decisionmakers pursuant to the corporation's general statutory 
contracting authority and the Interlocal Cooperation Act, RCW 39.34, 
thereby avoiding accountability to the voters who elected them? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The Court of Appeals opinion does not contain a factual recitation 

as such so it is important for this Court to understand the factual context to 

the controversy at bar. 1 

1 Context evidence is admissible to allow a court to understand the parties' 
intent in contracting. Hearst Communications, Inc. v. Seattle Times Co., 154 Wn.2d 493, 
503, 115 P.3d 262 (2005); Berg v. Hudesman, 115 Wn.2d 657, 667-68, 801 P.2d 222 
(1990). 
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The District was created in 1947. CP 320. It is the oldest and 

largest public hospital district in Washington. !d. The District initially 

operated Renton Hospital, but in 1969 opened Valley Medical Center that 

now has more than 300 in-patient beds, employs more than 2,500 clinical 

and non-clinical staff, and serves more than 400,000 people. !d. In fiscal 

year 2012, the District had nearly $1.2 billion in gross patient revenue and 

net operating revenue of $427.2 million. The District is not an 

insignificant government, given its budget, its heavy debt load, its annual 

tax levy, and, most importantly, its operation of a vital south King County 

health care facility. 

The former Commissioners and their selected executive staff have 

been the subject of intense public criticism for such issues as permitting 

bloated executive salaries, carrying a risky debt load, and violating 

campaign laws. See Br. of Appellant at 4-7. These highly questionable 

actions prompted reform candidates to seek and successfully secure 

election to the District's Board of Commissioners. CP 231, 254, 515, 633-

38. 

The District administration, however, determined to circumvent 

those reformers and the will of the District's voters who elected them. CP 

255. Richard Roodman, the District's then superintendent, told Dr. Paul 

Joos, now the District's Board president when Joos was a Commissioner 
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candidate, that he intended to avoid the strictures of the reform-oriented 

Board, a Board he described as "toxic," by entering into an agreement with 

UW Medicine that placed him (Roodman) beyond the Board's reach. !d. 

At Roodman's insistence, by a 3-2 vote of the former Board (as Dr. 

Joos was not yet a member), the District entered into a so-called Strategic 

Alliance Agreement ("Agreement") with UW Medicine on June 30, 2011; 

this occurred before the 2011 election at which Dr. Joos was elected, 

giving the reformers a Board majority. CP 409-96.2 The Agreement was 

intended by Roodman specifically to dispossess the elected 

Commissioners of control of the District generally. 

As a result of that Agreement, the District is now operated by a 

board of trustees composed of the District's five elected Commissioners, 

five individuals appointed by the CEO of UW Medicine from the 

community,3 two further individuals from UW Medicine's various boards, 

2 Since the election of a majority of reformers to the Board, the Commissioners 
repeatedly sought to address executive compensation, budgetary issues, and debt load 
tssues. CP 498-501, 508-11. They have been frustrated in those efforts by the trustees. 
!d. 

3 In determining if a trustee is from "the community," the trustees significantly 
expanded the alleged boundaries of "the community" far beyond the actual boundaries of 
the District to encompass the "service area" of the District. CP 469. By statute, only 
registered district voters may be commissioners. RCW 70.44.040(2). Some of the 
District's Commissioners are elected by district, some at-large. Commissioners must be 
residents of the districts they serve. RCW 70.44.040(2). Moreover, the "community" 
trustees are hardly independent in their perspective. Three of the appointed trustees 
formerly served as elected Commissioners and were known as loyal Roodman supporters. 
CP 128. Appointing "community representatives" who were actually rejected at the polls 
by the community is an oddity. 
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and the CEO of UW Medicine. CP 418-19 (§§ 3.2, 3.3(b)). From a 

practical standpoint, the elected Commissioners can always be outvoted by 

the eight UW Medicine trustees. The trustees are answerable to UW 

Medicine, not to the District's voters who must pay District-imposed 

property taxes for operations and debt service the trustees, not the elected 

Commissioners, control.4 

With respect to the powers of the new board of trustees, the Court 

of Appeals did not closely analyze the actual, practical impact of the 

Agreement. Instead, it asserts that "the express terms of the Strategic 

Alliance Agreement provide that the district retains powers it now argues 

have been delegated." Op. at 9. 5 In fact, the Agreement ceded the core 

functions of the District's elected Commissioners to the Agreement's 

largely unelected board of trustees. It is undisputed that: 

• the trustees, not the Commissioners, set the 
District's annual budget -- CP 418, 421, 439 (§§ 
3.1(b)(viii), 3.6(i), 6.3)); 

4 In several passages in its opinion, the Court of Appeals suggests that the 
District's concerns about the Agreement is a product of a change in the Board. Op. at 4-
5, 17. But that is how the democratic process is supposed to work and it is precisely why 
long term agreements ceding the core functions of elected officials to unelected 
substitutes should be regarded suspiciously by this Court. To hold otherwise results in 
the thwarting of the democractic process. 

5 Not only is this assertion a highly superficial analysis of the Agreement, it 
violates a core principle of analyzing factual issues on summary judgment. All facts and 
reasonable inferences from those facts must be viewed in a light most favorable to the 
District as the non-moving party. Dowler v. Clover Park School Dist. No. 400, 172 
Wn.2d 471, 484, 258 P.3d 676 (2011). 
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• the trustees, not the Commissioners, approve the 
appointment of the Valley CEO, the chief 
executive officer, and set his/her compensation 
-- CP 418, 422, 424 (§§ 3.1(b)(ix), 3.1(b)(xiv), 
3.8(a), 3.8(d));6 

• the trustees, not the Commissioners, make all 
staffing decisions as to the professional and non
professional staff at Valley, including compensation 
-- CP 417, 426-27 (§§ 3.1(b)(iii-vi), 4.3, 4.4)); 

• by virtue of the budgetary authority, the 
Commissioners are obligated to follow the trustees' 
direction on the levying of taxes -- CP 449-50 (§ 
9.1));7 

• the trustees, not the Commissioners decide the 
incurrence of debt and the Commissioners are 
obliged to follow the trustees' direction on the 
issuance of bonds -- CP 418, 434-35 (§§ 
3.1(b)(xii), 4.18(c)); 

• the trustees, not the Commissioners, may enter into 
real estate transactions for the District -- CP 435 (§ 
4.19); 

• the trustees' performance of obligations constitutes 
the satisfaction of District statutory obligations and 
responsibilities-- CP 424 (§ 3.10(a)); 

6 The Valley CEO is not accountable to the elected Commissioners; he is 
answerable solely to the trustees and UW Medicine. CP 422 (§ 3.8(a)). 

7 As explained in detail in the Brief of Appellants at 13-14, a critical fact here is 
that the trustees set the budget and it is this power that effectively controls the 
Commissioners' theoretical tax levying power. § 9 .I of the Agreement severely curtails 
the discretion of the elected Commissioners' power to levy taxes. The Commissioners 
could not cut the District's annual property tax levy, for example, if that action resulted in 
a budget deficit. See CP 449-50 (§ 9.1). 
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• the trustees set the District's objectives and policies 
-- CP 417 (§ 3.1(b)(i)), and oversee the District-
CP 421 (§ 3.6).8 

All of these powers are fixed for at least 15 years, as the Commissioners 

cannot terminate or amend the Agreement for that period. CP 451-52 (§ 

10.1).9 The Agreement does not merely address a single service or 

project, it addresses all of the elected Board's powers and duties with 

regard to the operation of the District under RCW 70.44. 

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

(1) Introduction 

The published Court of Appeals opinion gives its imprimatur to the 

fundamentally anti-democratic notion that the general power of a 

municipal corporation to contract authorizes that corporation to cede the 

core powers of its elected decisonmakers to largely unelected substitute 

decisionmakers. The net effect of such arrangements is to unlawfully 

disenfranchise the voters, and to shield government operations from 

oversight by the public through their elected officials. 

8 See generally, Br. of Appellant at 8-14; Reply Br. at 7-9. 

9 That the elected Commissioners' core powers are effectively transferred to the 
trustees is evidenced by the fact that the Commissioners may not expend a single penny 
without trustee approval, CP 258, 610-12; the Commissioners' views on the reduction of 
administrative staff expenses are ignored, CP 501; the trustees have restricted the public 
outreach activities of the elected Commissioners, CP 257-58, 506-07; and the trustees 
have refused to allow the elected Commissioners to hire bond counsel to seek a reduction 
in the District's bloated debt. CP 258-59, 508-09. 
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Here, the laws authorizing hospital districts to enter into contracts 

permit them to do so for discreet projects or services, not all the core 

functions of their elected decisionmakers such as the power to budget, tax, 

incur debt, or select top executive officials. Under the Court of Appeals 

analysis, there is no principled limit on the ability of elected municipal 

decisionmakers to cede their duties to unelected substitutes. This Court 

should review the Court of Appeals decision. 

(2) The Court of Appeals Misreads the Scope of a District's 
Contracting Authority 

A public hospital district is created by the district's residents, and 

those voters elect commissioners to run the district's affairs. RCW 

70.44.040. Under Washington law, and general municipal law principles, 

a municipal corporation's elected officials cannot delegate their "core 

responsibilities" as elected officials with regard to all of the corporate 

functions to unelected substitutes not answerable to the voters. 

The District voters created and funded the District so that their 

elected Commissioners would be available to represent their interests and 

to be held accountable, if necessary, for any actions taken on such issues. 

That is impossible under the Agreement where the predominantly 
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unelected, board of trustees acts as the District's substitute decisionrnakers. 

Those trustees are accountable to UW Medicine, not the District's voters. 10 

The Court of Appeals largely rests its decision on the provisions of 

RCW 70.44.060170.44.240 relating to a hospital district's contracting 

authority. Op. at 5-7. But the Court misreads the scope of the statutory 

contracting authority and this Court's decisions limiting it. 

First, the court nowhere articulates what RCW 70.44.040, 

providing for the election of the District's Commissioners, means to its 

analysis. 11 See AGO 2013 No. 3 ("Each public hospital district is 

governed by an elected board of commissioners, which is statutorily 

responsible for operation of its hospital affairs, including the delivery of 

health care services, whether the district provides services directly or by 

contracting with a provider."). The Court of Appeals ignores that the 

Legislature provided for the election of Commissioners to run such 

10 The ultimate intent of the Agreement is the integration of the District 
Healthcare System into UW Medicine. CP 438. In effect, the District is merged into UW 
Medicine without any review or approval by the voters who established the District and 
the taxpayers who support the District each year with their property taxes. Not only do 
the District's voters have no vote on this transformation of the District's governance, they 
cannot elect Commissioners who can reverse it after the Court of Appeals decision for at 
least 15 years. 

11 When courts interpret a statutory provision, they must consider the entire 
statute in which the provision is found, as well as related statutes or other provisions in 
the same statute. Anderson v. State, Dep't of Corrections, 159 Wn.2d 849, 858, 154 P.3d 
220 (2007). No statutory language should be rendered superfluous by judicial 
construction. State v. Pannell, 173 Wn.2d 222, 230, 267 P.3d 349 (2011). 
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districts. The former Commissioners could not enter into an agreement to 

cede the responsibilities of elected Commissioners, for which they are 

accountable to the voters, to largely unelected substitute decisionmakers. 

Second, the Court of Appeals does not carefully construe the 

specific language of RCW 70.44.240. The language of that statute is key 

because it is a more specific statute on joint operations and the more 

recent and specific statute controls over an older, more general statute. 

Anderson, 159 Wn.2d at 861. 

RCW 70.44.240 nowhere states that the general authority of 

elected Commissioners to run the District may be ceded to a group like the 

trustees. By its very language, the Legislature intended that specific 

projects or services could be the subject of such joint operations. A public 

hospital district can join with other entities to "acquire, own, operate, 

manage, or provide" a limited scope of projects or services. Among those 

projects or services are a hospital or other health care facilities, and 

hospital or other health care services. All of such facilities or services had 

to be used by individuals, districts, or hospitals or others. That description 

is facility or project-driven. Consistent with such a construction, a district 

can create a governing body to operate the project or facility. But the 

statute did not contemplate that a public hospital district's elected 
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commissioners could cede all of their core responsibilities as elected 

officials to unelected substitute decisionmakers in such a contract. 

The Court of Appeals cites a New Jersey case, Terminal 

Enterprises, Inc. v. Jersey City, 258 A.2d 361 (N.J. 1969) as its principal 

authority for its construction ofRCW 70.44.240. Op. at 7-9. The case is 

readily distinguishable. That case involved a single transportation project. 

The New Jersey court upheld the delegation of authority by Jersey City 

and Hudson County to the Port Authority Trans-Hudson Corporation. 

Unlike the situation here, the city and the county did not relinquish their 

core powers for all of the statutory areas of endeavor of the respective city 

council and board freeholders (commissioners) to unelected substitute 

decisionmakers. 

Finally, the court failed to grasp the clear limitations, both in 

statute and in case law, on the contractual power of a district. First, the 

power to contract under RCW 70.44 or RCW 39.34 is circumscribed. 12 

12 Concerned Citizens of Hospital District No. 304 v. Board of Commissioners 
of Public Hospital District No. 304, 78 Wn. App. 333, 897 P.2d 1267, review denied, 127 
Wn.2d 1024 (1995) (new board created under RCW 70.44.240, but Commissioners of the 
two contracting districts made up the joint board and there is no evidence that in 
delegating their authority over a single facility, they relinquished their overall authority 
as elected officials). RCW 39.34.030 permits agreements for the delivery of public 
services, but RCW 39.34 nowhere evidences an intent to permit a municipal corporation 
to cede the core responsibilities of its elected decisionmakers to unelected persons who 
are unaccountable to the voters. State v. Plaggemeier, 93 Wn. App. 472, 969 P.2d 519, 
review denied, 137 Wn.2d 1036 (1999) (court invalidated part of the agreement that 
created a Bremerton-Kitsap DWI task force for lack of legislative approval of all 
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Second, and more critically, this Court itself has made clear that 

municipalities may not cede their core functions to others. In Roehl v. 

Public Utility District No. 1 of Chelan County, 43 Wn.2d 214, 261 P.2d 92 

(1953), this Court stated: "Where the enabling legislation under which a 

municipal or quasi-municipal corporation derives its power confides 

legislative or discretionary functions in particular officials or boards, such 

functions may not be delegated to others." !d. at 240 (citations omitted). 

See also, Noe v. Edmonds Sch. Dist. No. 15 of Snohomish County, 83 

Wn.2d 97, 103, 515 P.2d 977 (1974) (power to discipline teachers vested 

exclusively by statute with school boards and could not be delegated to 

superintendents); Federal Way Sch. Dist. No. 210 v. Vinson, 172 Wn.2d 

756, 765-66, 261 P.3d 145 (2011) (when statute confers specific functions 

of a municipal or quasi-municipal corporation upon a particular person or 

entity, those functions may not be delegated to others). Here, nothing in 

RCW 70.44.240 speaks to the ability of a public hospital district to 

delegate the general powers of its elected commissioners to tax, mcur 

debt, or select top executive officials to substitute decisionmakers. 

contracting municipalities). Public agencies may not circumvent their obligations by 
entering into a contract. RCW 39.34.030(5). 
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Further, in Chemical Bank v. Wash. Pub. Power Supply System, 99 

Wn.2d 772, 662 P.2d 329 (1983), this Court held that the member utilities 

of the Washington Public Power Supply System were not required to 

make good on the bonds for nuclear power plants that were not completed 

because the member utilities had no power to enter into the agreements to 

guarantee bond payments where the members did not acquire an 

ownership interest m the plants or otherwise control them. 

Acknowledging its earlier decision in Roehl, this Court specifically 

determined that the member utilities, in effect, illegally abdicated their 

statutory responsibilities where all management and policy decisions were 

conferred upon the WPPSS board, describing the participant committee of 

the members as "a rubber stamp for WPPSS' decisions." ld. at 788. This 

Court further noted that "although this court recognizes the need for 

delegating duties in the context of joint development agreements, we are 

not prepared to sanction a virtual abdication of all management functions 

and policy decision to an operating agency such as WPPSS." (citations 

omitted). Id. The thrust of this Court's opinion was that the municipal 

corporations delegating responsibility to construct nuclear plants to 

WPPSS had to retain the core responsibilities of their elected boards intact 

and those elected boards had to independently exercise the 

decisionmaking for which they were elected. 
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Our Attorney General similarly stated that elected officials may 

not delegate their core duties. AGO 2012 No. 4. In addressing the legal 

constraints on the power of a board of county commissioners to enter into 

long-term contracts that are binding beyond the end of the terms of current 

board members, the Attorney General properly drew the distinction, 

missed by the Court of Appeals here, op. at 11-12, between core 

legislative responsibilities of a legislative body and administrative or 

proprietary functions. As for the former, the county commissioners could 

not take actions "that impair the core legislative powers of their successors 

in office." The Attorney General noted: 

The hallmark of the first category [core legislative 
responsibilities] is the authority of a legislative body to 
exercise continuing discretion in the setting of legal 
standards to govern behavior within the jurisdiction. If a 
contract impairs this "core" legislative discretion, 
eliminating or substantially reducing the discretion future 
bodies might exercise, the courts are likely to find that the 
contract has improperly impaired the legislative authority 
of future commissioners. 

Rather than address the AGO directly, the Court of Appeals 

instead focused on State ex rel. Schlarb v. Smith, 19 Wn.2d 109, 141 P.2d 

651 (1943), a case like Terminal Enterprises that related to a single 

project. The elected officials of a municipality may bind future elected 

officials in a long-term contract involving a single project or a service, but 

may not bind future elected officials on the exercise of all core functions 
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of the municipality. That lesson from AGO 2012 No. 4 was lost on the

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