RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Aug 20, 2014, 4:32 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

Case No. 90545-2



# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### PUBLIC HOSPITAL DISTRICT NO. 1 OF KING COUNTY,

Appellant,

vs.

### UNIVERSITY OF WASHINGTON AND UW MEDICINE,

Respondents.

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

HILLIS CLARK MARTIN & PETERSON P.S. Louis D. Peterson, WSBA #5776 Mary Crego Peterson, WSBA #31593 Michael J. Ewart, WSBA #38655 1221 Second Avenue, Suite 500 Seattle, Washington 98101-2925 Telephone: (206) 623-1745

Special Assistant Attorney General Attorneys for Respondents



##

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

#### III. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

The Petition for Review should be denied because the Court of Appeals correctly applied unambiguous statutes in a manner consistent with this Court's precedents. This case does not present an unsettled legal issue of public importance that requires the Court's attention.

# A. The Alliance is Authorized by Statute and Is Consistent with This Court's Decisions.

#### 1. The Alliance is authorized by statute.

The District claims "the laws authorizing hospital districts to enter into contracts permit them to do so for discreet [sic] projects or services, not all the core functions of their elected decisionmakers such as the power to budget, tax, incur debt, or select top executive officials." Pet. for Review at 7 (emphasis in original). The controlling statute, which the District does not even quote in its Petition, imposes no such limitations.

The powers of public hospital districts are described in RCW 70.44.060. They include authority to construct and operate a hospital, issue bonds, otherwise incur debt to pay for health care services, and hire physicians and all other employees. RCW 70.44.060. Hospital districts can also levy taxes up to a cap imposed by the legislature. *Id.* 

The *same* statute granting the District its powers also provides authority for the Agreement. *Id.* After listing the specific powers given to hospital districts, the statute explicitly authorizes any public hospital district to "enter into any contract with the United States government or any state, municipality, or other hospital district, or any department of those governing bodies, for carrying out *any of the powers* authorized by this chapter." RCW 70.44.060(7) (emphasis added). As the Court of Appeals correctly held, "The plain language of this provision authorizes the district to contract with the university, a state entity, to carry out any of the district's powers." *Pub. Hosp. Dist. No. 1*, 327 P.3d at 1284.

Another section of the Hospital District statute grants similar authority. Under RCW 70.44.240, a hospital district can contract with a variety of entities (or individuals) to "acquire, own, operate, manage, or provide any hospital or other health care facilities or hospital services or other health care services." The District contends this language is limited to "specific projects or services," Pet. for Review at 9 (emphasis omitted),

but the statute contains no such limitations. It unqualifiedly authorizes contracts to "own, operate, manage, or provide" any "health care facilities" or "services" offered by a District. The Agreement (which does not even go so far as to transfer ownership of the District's assets) fits well within those broad terms. The Court of Appeals rightly concluded that this provision, read together with RCW 70.44.060(7), broadly authorizes the type of "joint or cooperative action" undertaken here. *Pub. Hosp. Dist. No. 1*, 237 P.3d at 1284.

The Interlocal Cooperation Act, also not addressed by the District in its Petition for Review, similarly authorizes the Alliance. The Act exists to "permit local governmental units to make the most efficient use of their powers by enabling them to cooperate with other localities on a basis of mutual advantage." RCW 39.34.010. The Act thus authorizes

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Indeed, if the District's commissioners are authorized to *sell* the District's health care facilities and services, RCW 70.44.060(2), 70.44.240, they plainly are authorized to contract with the University to share management responsibilities for those same facilities and services.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In its Petition for Review, the District does not even quote the language from RCW 70.44.060(7). See Pet. for Review at 1-18. The District seemingly attempts to justify that omission by suggesting the Court need only consider RCW 70.44.240 because it is a newer provision that the District argues is more specific. Pet. for Review at 9. The District cites Anderson v. Dep't of Corr., 159 Wn.2d 849, 861, 154 P.3d 220 (2007), for the proposition that the Court must disregard an older statutory provision in favor of any newer, more specific statute. Anderson says no such thing. To the contrary, Anderson requires courts to reconcile statutes unless they "irreconcilably conflict." 159 Wn.2d at 861. Here, RCW 70.44.060 and .240 both demonstrate the legislature's intent to allow joint or cooperative action. They certainly do not conflict, and the District does not claim a conflict exists. Had the legislature intended to narrow RCW 70.44.060(7) at the time it passed .240, it could have done so. It did not.

public agencies to jointly exercise "[a]ny power or powers, privileges or authority exercised or capable of exercise by a public agency of this state." RCW 39.34.030(1). The Act permits public entities to enter into contracts to facilitate such "joint or cooperative action." RCW 39.34.030(2). The Court of Appeals held the Agreement in this case is just such a contract. *Pub. Hosp. Dist. No. 1*, 327 P.3d at 1284-85.

Even though the Alliance is explicitly authorized by at least three statutory provisions, the District complains that the Court of Appeals ignored RCW 70.44.040, which provides for the election of hospital district commissioners. Pet. for Review at 8. The District suggests that, since the legislature provided for the election of commissioners, the Court must infer that only the commissioners may have a hand in managing the District. *Id.* at 8-9. The Hospital District statutes provide otherwise.

The provisions relied on by the District, in RCW 70.44.040, supply only *procedural standards* for the election of commissioners; they do not say anything about the commissioners' powers or responsibilities. The commissioners' powers and responsibilities are described elsewhere, including in RCW 70.44.060, which authorizes hospital districts to contract with other governmental entities "for carrying out any of the [hospital district's] powers." RCW 70.44.060(7). That authority is entirely consistent with RCW 70.44.040. It empowers (not undermines)

the elected commissioners by allowing them to enter into creative, collaborative agreements for the District's benefit.

The legislature is unquestionably empowered to confer this authority on hospital districts. Municipal corporations, such as public hospital districts, are "creatures of the state" and "derive their authority and powers from the state's legislative body." *Skagit Cnty. Pub. Hosp. Dist. No. 1 v. Dep't of Revenue*, 158 Wn. App. 426, 445, 242 P.3d 909 (2010). The legislature's "absolute control" over the powers of municipal corporations is "limited only by the constitution." *King Cnty. Water Dist. No. 54 v. King Cnty. Boundary Review Bd.*, 87 Wn.2d 536, 540, 554 P.2d 1060 (1976). The District raises no constitutional challenge here. And because the legislature—the source of a hospital district's powers—authorized public hospital districts to "enter into any contract with . . . any state. . . or any department . . . for the carrying out of any of the [hospital district's] powers," it authorized the District's elected commissioners to enter the Alliance with the University.

2. The relevant statutes explicitly authorize minority representation by public hospital district commissioners on any new joint governing board.

The District also complains that its commissioners do not constitute a majority of the new joint Board of Trustees. See Pet. for

Review at 4 ("From a practical standpoint, the elected Commissioners can always be outvoted by the eight UW Medicine trustees."). The legislature has determined majority representation is not necessary.

In authorizing collaborative action by public hospital districts, the Hospital District authorizing statute states that "[t]he governing body of [any new] legal entity . . . shall include representatives of the public hospital district, which representatives may include members of the public hospital district's board of commissioners." RCW 70.44.240 (emphasis added). In other words, hospital district commissioners need not be on new joint boards at all, and certainly may represent only a minority of seats on such boards.

The Interlocal Cooperation Act similarly requires only that public agencies in joint agreements "be represented" on any joint board.

RCW 39.34.030(4)(a); accord RCW 39.34.030(3)(b) (requiring "membership" of a public agency in any new organization created by it pursuant to the Interlocal Cooperation Act). It does not require majority representation by any party, and therefore authorizes minority representation by public hospital district commissioners.

RCW 39.34.030(4)(a). These provisions make practical sense. Two

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Before 2004, the Public Hospital District's statute did require representation—but not majority representation—by public hospital district commissioners on any joint governing boards. In Senate Bill 6485, which passed the state House and Senate unanimously in 2004, the legislature specifically removed that requirement.

collaborating public entities cannot both have majority membership.

If majority membership were required, public entities could never join together pursuant to the statutes explicitly authorizing such collaborations.

# 3. The Alliance is consistent with this Court's decisions.

The District contends this Court's decisions prohibit alliances like this one. Pet. for Review at 11. On the contrary, this Court has endorsed just such undertakings when authorized by statute.

Under this Court's decisions, "[w]here a statute, which is the source of a municipal or quasi-municipal corporation's power, confers specific functions to particular officers or boards, such functions may not be delegated to others . . . unless the statute expressly authorizes such delegation to some other officer or body." Noe v. Edmonds Sch. Dist. No. 15 of Snohomish Cnty., 83 Wn.2d 97, 103, 515 P.2d 977 (1973) (emphasis added). This is the same rule articulated in treatises, e.g., 10A Eugene McQuillin, Municipal Corporations § 29.102 at 70-71 n.4 (quoted in Pub. Hosp. Dist. No. 1, 327 P.3d at 1283), and in the Attorney General Opinion on which the District places much reliance, AGO 2012 No. 4 at 3 ("the resolution of specific cases often turns on specific statutory grants of authority, rather than on the application of . . . general principle[s]") (emphasis added).

Because the legislature controls a municipal corporation's powers, the Court looks to the relevant authorizing statutes when assessing the powers of a municipal corporation. In *Roehl*, for example, the Court endorsed the creation of a joint operating board, with minority commissioner representation, to manage a project undertaken cooperatively by municipal corporations. The Court found the joint operating board was "clearly within the contemplation of the enabling legislation," *Roehl*, 43 Wn.2d at 241. The Court later reaffirmed the validity of such joint boards. *Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Snohomish Cnty.*, 78 Wn.2d at 730-31 (upholding validity of joint agreement delegating management authority and noting the delegated authority was properly approved in *Roehl*).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> E.g., Chem. Bank v. Wash. Pub. Power Supply Sys., 99 Wn.2d 772, 666 P.2d 329 (1983) (agreement invalid for failure to comply with statutory requirements); Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Snohomish Cnty. v. Taxpayers & Ratepayers of Snohomish Cnty., 78 Wn.2d 724, 731, 479 P.2d 61 (1971) (the actions challenged in the case were permissible because "contemplated by the legislature"); Roehl v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Chelan Cnty., 43 Wn.2d 214, 240-41, 261 P.2d 92 (1953) (looking to enabling statute in determining powers of utility districts); State ex rel. Schlarb v. Smith, 19 Wn.2d 109, 141 P.2d 651 (1943) (looking to statute for authority to enter binding contract).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The Court of Appeals approved a similar joint board in a case involving joint action by two public hospital districts. In *Concerned Citizens of Hosp. Dist. No. 304 v. Bd. of Comm'rs of Pub. Hosp. Dist. No. 304*, 78 Wn. App. 333, 337, 897 P.2d 1267, review denied, 127 Wn.2d 1024 (1995), two hospital districts created a joint governing entity to manage their two hospitals. Each hospital district had minority representation on the joint governing board, which included each district's five commissioners and an eleventh member. *Id.* at 337. When that joint board chose to close down one hospital's emergency room, the Court of Appeals upheld that decision. *Id.* 

Similarly, in *Schlarb*, the Court endorsed a contract between Pierce County and King County that required both counties to levy taxes to protect the White River. 19 Wn.2d at 111. Years after the contract was signed, King County refused to levy the tax, and argued its previous commissioners could not bind the hands of its current commissioners. *Id.* at 112. The Court disagreed, and enforced King County's contractual obligation because it was "entered into under specific statutory authority." *Id.* at 112-13.

The District cites the *WPPSS* case to argue the Court prohibits joint undertakings when the member entities have only minimal participation in management decisions. Pet. for Review at 12 (discussing *Chem. Bank*, 99 Wn.2d 772). As the Court of Appeals noted, this case is nothing like *WPPSS*. *Pub. Hosp. Dist. No. 1*, 327 P.3d at 1287-88. In *WPPSS*, the lack of member ownership of the joint undertaking, coupled with a passive opt-in management system, failed to "satisfy the type of ownership control envisioned in" the relevant utility district statutes. <sup>10</sup> *Chem. Bank*, 99 Wn.2d at 787.

<sup>10</sup> In reaching that conclusion, the Court specifically contrasted the WPPSS management system with the joint governing body approved by the Court in *Roehl*. *Chem. Bank*, 99 Wn.2d at 787-88, 790-91. The Court explained that, in *Roehl*, an "executive board, consisting of one member from each utility, was responsible for overall project management and policy decisions" for the new joint undertaking established by the member utilities. *Id.* at 791 (citing *Roehl*, 43 Wn.2d at 240-41). The Court held that the "same degree of participant control" was not present in WPPSS because "most of the

Here, unlike in *WPPSS*, the District retains ownership of its assets and each of its commissioners has a seat on the new Board of Trustees. The District thus participates fully in Board decisions, in addition to retaining ultimate control over its key powers. Under Washington law, including this Court's decisions, the Board is properly constituted, even though the District's commissioners do not hold a majority of the seats. *E.g.*, *id.* (citing with approval the *Roehl* five-member executive committee, on which each public utility district had only one seat); *accord*, *e.g.*, *Concerned Citizens*, 78 Wn. App. at 337, 348 (approving actions of joint public hospital board where each hospital district had only minority representation).

- B. This Case Does Not Involve an Issue of Public Importance Requiring Supreme Court Intervention.
  - 1. This case involves the straightforward interpretation of unambiguous statutory language.

The Court of Appeals, like the trial court before it, held that the

Alliance "was authorized by the statutes governing public hospital districts

policy decisions and management control are delegated to WPPSS, the operating agency, rather than any executive committee." *Id.* 

<sup>11</sup> Even though the District is explicitly authorized to share any of its powers with another public entity, the Court of Appeals noted that the District has retained in the Agreement many powers it now claims have been delegated. *Pub. Hosp. Dist. No. 1*, 327 P.3d at 1285-86. Indeed, the District has retained, for example, the power to levy property taxes, incur debt, and issue bonds. *Id.* (citing text of Agreement). The District's claim that it gave up those powers is also disingenuous because, as members of the Board, the District's commissioners continue to be involved in all decisions.

and the Interlocal [Cooperation] Act." *Pub. Hosp. Dist. No. 1*, 327 P.3d at 1284. The statutes are unambiguous. This case does not present challenging or novel issues of statutory interpretation that require the Supreme Court's involvement. The Court should deny the District's Petition for Review. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

# 2. The effect of the Court of Appeals decision does not extend beyond the parties to the Agreement.

The Alliance at issue is unique, and was carefully constructed after months of planning to suit the particular needs of the District and the University. It is also authorized by the statute governing public hospital districts, and therefore does not affect "all municipalities in Washington," as the District argues. Pet. for Rev. at 16.

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